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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief: (1) the information contained in this report
is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading, (2) there are no other matters the omission of which would
make any statement in this report misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful
consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Financial Summary

For the year ended 31st March,
BE=ZA=+—-BLEE

MG E

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—TERLF —ZTER)N\F —TTANF —T-ITF | ZB——F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FEr FET FET FET
RESULTS E
Turnover BT 52,453 52,002 30,255 11,333 12,765
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRELAT (B518) E F 8,402 24,938 7,197 (6,898) (20,950)
Taxation Bi1E (2,605) (4,674) (3,616) - =
(Loss)/profit for the year RABIERTFAA
attributable to equity holders of  JE{5 4
the Company (E518) %7 5,797 20,264 3,581 (6,898) (20,950)
Dividends fi% 8 - - - - -
At 31st March,
R=A=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ETLF ZZTNF ZTTNF ZET—TF |ZE——F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET F#ET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Total assets BERE 346,432 395,775 413,022 401,085 395,846
Total liabilities BERE (22,037) (24,341) (24,214) (18,954) (17,981)
Shareholders’ funds BEES 324,395 371,434 388,808 382,131 377,865
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders and Directors,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present
the Group's annual report for the year ended 31st March, 2011 to the
shareholders.

The Group's business was relatively stable. Turnover and loss attributable
to equity holders for the year amounted to approximately HK$12.77
million and HK$20.95 million respectively, as compared to turnover and
loss attributable to equity holders approximately HK$11.33 million and
HK$6.90 million respectively of last year.

Market competition in lighting product segments has remained intense.
Notwithstanding the Group’s success on (i) research and development in
its core products among competitors producing the same products, the
production cost of the Group has strong competitive advantage, (ii) cost
control and (iii) unique Tungda brand products, the Group recorded a
loss for the year mainly because of the non-recurring impairment loss of
property, plant and equipment recognised in the year.

The Group has been distributor of GE Lighting since 1996 and has been
appointed by GE Lighting as its exclusive distributor for lighting fixtures
in Hong Kong and Macau in January, 2004. The appointment enables the
Group to expand its product offerings to include lighting fixtures and also
symbolizes our successful long term cooperation with GE Lighting.

The Group has been actively seeking capable distributors to expand its
sales and distribution network.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all the
customers, staff and directors for their continuous support, dedication and

contribution to the Group, as well as shareholders and business partners
for their full support and confidence in the Group.

Chu Chien Tung
Chairman

20th June, 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

Operating Results

For the year ended 31st March, 2011, the Group's turnover was
approximately HK$12.77 million, representing an increase of
approximately 12.70% from HK$11.33 million last year.

The gross profit margin for the year ended 31st March, 2011 was about
8.11% compared to gross loss margin about 7.45% for the same period
in 2010. The change is attributable to the increase in sales and relevant
production of house brand products as to be able to cover the fixed direct
production overhead.

House brand products that usually give higher gross profit margin as
compared to agency brand products accounted for about 58.52% of total
turnover for the year ended 31st March, 2011 (2010: 48.16%).

Other Income

The major component of other income approximately HK$1.46 million was
interest income for the year 2011. As compared to approximately HK$1.62
million for the same period in 2010, there was no material change in other
income.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The selling expenses and distribution costs, which primarily comprised
of salaries expenses, amounted to approximately HK$0.51 million for
the year ended 31st March, 2011 and remained stable as compared to
approximately HK$0.53 million for the same period in 2010.

Administrative Expenses

The administrative expenses for the year ended 31st March, 2011
comprised primarily of staff remuneration, depreciation, entertainment,
fee for audit services, rental expenses and research and development
costs. The administrative expenses for the year ended 31st March,
2011 increased to approximately HK$22.92 million as compared to
approximately HK$7.12 million with last year mainly because of the non-
recurring impairment loss of property, plant and equipment recognised in
the year.

Net Loss

As a result of the factors discussed above, the loss attributable to equity
holders for the year ended 31st March, 2011 amounted to approximately
HK$20.95 million as compared to loss attributable to equity holders
approximately HK$6.90 million for the same period in 2010.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Suspension on Trading in shares

Trading in the shares of the Company has been suspended on the Stock
Exchange since 29th July, 2004. In order to resume the share trading as
soon as possible, the Company has actively communicated with relevant
section of the Stock Exchange since January, 2007.

With reference to the Company’s announcement on 3rd April, 2009,
the Company received a letter in around November 2008 from the Stock
Exchange in which the Stock Exchange set out conditions prior to uplifting
of the Company’s suspension of trading in shares pursuant to Rule 9.10 of
the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company will make further announcements as appropriate for any
further material developments.

Investigation by the Commercial Crime Bureau

With reference to the Company’s announcement on 13th August, 2010,
officers of Commercial Crime Bureau of the Hong Kong Police Force
("CCB") executed a search warrant at the premises of the Group. The
search warrant concerned an investigation by the CCB of a suspected
offence (conspiracy to defraud, contrary to Common Law). Mr. Chu Chien
Tung, the Chairman, Mr. Chu Chick Kei, an executive director, and Ms.
Chu Pik Ang, an accounting clerk of the Company have informed the
Company that they: (a) were arrested as part of the CCB's investigation;
(b) have been charged by the police; and (c) have been released on
police bail. Based on the information in the search warrant, the Board
understands that the CCB's investigation may also involve certain
individuals who previously worked for the Company.

The relevant executive directors have subsequently informed the Company
that the trials in relation to the case will be commenced in July, 2011.

The Company will keep the public informed through further
announcements as appropriate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group's shareholders’ funds amounted to
approximately HK$377.87 million (2010: HK$382.13 million). Cash and
cash equivalents was approximately HK$360.61 million as at 31st March,
2011, compared to HK$345.03 million as at 31st March, 2010. Increase
in cash stemmed primarily from changes in exchange rate of translation
from Renminbi to Hong Kong dollars. The Board believes that the Group
has adequate funds to support its operations and capital expenditures for
future expansion and development.

The Group's gearing ratio, defined as the Group's total debt to total
equity, was 4.75% (2010: 4.96%).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There were neither significant investment held by the Group nor material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies for
the year ended 31st March, 2011 except as disclosed in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

The Group's buildings along with one of the leasehold land and land use
rights in the PRC have been pledged to a bank to secure general banking
facilities granted to the Group as disclosed in notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

As most of the Group's trading transactions, monetary assets and liabilities
were denominated in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong
dollars, the impact of the foreign exchange exposure of the Group was
considered to be minimal and there was no significant adverse effect on
the normal operations of the Group. As at 31st March, 2011, no related
hedges were made by the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group and the Company had no contingent liabilities as at both 31st
March, 2011 and 2010.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information of the Group is set out in note 6 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31st March, 2011, the Group had about 37 (including three
Executive Directors) full time employees. The Group’s employees were
remunerated according to the nature of their duty and market trend, with
discretionary bonus and benefit of retirement scheme, share options and
necessary training. Total staff costs (including all the Directors’ fees and
Directors’ emoluments in the form of salaries and allowances) for the year
amounted to approximately HK$2.60 million (2010: HK$2.77 million).

PROSPECTS

As the Group's products have longer life hours and high energy efficiency.
In addition, more customers are now concerning the importance of
environmental protection, and therefore they are intending to use the
Group's products instead of traditional light source products.

The Group will continue to pursue and focus on its core business of being
a provider of good quality light source products and will use its best
endeavor to maximise return to its shareholders in the years ahead.
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Profiles of Directors

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Chien Tung, aged 58, is the chairman and the chief executive
officer of the Company. He is a member of Political Consultative
Conference of Henan Province, Vice-Chairman of Putian Overseas Chinese
Association. He was awarded “The Outstanding Entrepreneur” in Fujian
Xianyou County. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 19th
December, 2001. He is currently a part-time professor of the Faculty of
Light Sources and Illuminating Engineering in Fudan University. Mr. Chu is
the founder of Tungda Industrial Limited in 1984. Since the establishment
of Tungda Industrial Limited in 1984, Mr. Chu has participated in
manufacturing, trading and sales of lighting sources products.

Mr. CHU Chick Kei, aged 53, is the vice chairman and deputy chief
executive officer of the Company. He was appointed as a director of the
Company on 19th December, 2001. He joined Tungda Industrial Limited
in August 1986 and has been engaged in manufacturing, trading, sales,
management and administration. He is the brother of Mr. Chu Chien Tung.

Mr. CHU Sen Hei, aged 31, is a director and the son of Mr. Chu Chien
Tung. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 10th April,
2002. He joined Tungda Industrial Limited in April 2000 and is responsible
for technical development of lighting sources, sales for overseas market
and administration.

Non-Executive Director

Dr. FUNG Shiu Lun, Anthony, aged 50, is a non-executive director of the
Company. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 1st June,
2004. Dr. Fung graduated from Massachusetts Institute of Technology with
dual Bachelor of Science degrees in Chemical Engineering and Chemistry,
and a Master degree in Chemical Engineering Practice. He also holds a
Master degree in Business Administration from The Wharton Business
School of University of Pennsylvania and a Doctoral in Philosophy degree in
Chemical Engineering from the University of Delaware of the United States
("Us”).

Dr. Fung is currently the General Manager of a private investment firm
focusing on healthcare industry in the People’s Republic of China.
Previously, Dr. Fung has extensive management consultancy experience in
financial services, manufacturing, and energy sectors in Asia and US. He is
the holder of 15 US patents on the development of new catalytic materials
and their related petrochemical and refining processes.
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Profiles of Directors

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHU Lei Bo, aged 48, is an independent non-executive director of
the Company. He was appointed as a director of the Company on 30th
September, 2003. Mr. Zhu graduated from Tongji University in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") with a doctoral degree in Engineering. Mr.
Zhu had been the General Manager of China Luoyang Float Glass Group
Company Limited, a company established in the PRC and has extensive
experience in production, coordination and technology management. He is
currently a Vice President of China Building Material Industry Association.

Mr. HONG Yong Hwan, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
director of the Company. He was appointed as a director of the Company
on 18th September, 2003. Mr. Hong graduated from National Taiwan
Normal University and Korea University. He had worked as a managing
director for overseas business of Dr. Peng Technology listed in the
Shanghai stock market and for a company investing in mining and
resources in the People’s Republic of China. He presently acts as the chief
executive officer of INZEN Limited listed in the Korean stock market.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code Provisions”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with the Code
Provisions except for the following deviations:

(1

the Code Provision A.2.1 which requires the separation of the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer;

(2) the Code Provision A.4.1 which requires non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term subject to re-election;

the Code Provision A.4.2 which requires, among others, every
director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years;

the Code Provision B.1.1 which requires the establishment of a
remuneration committee with specific written terms of reference;
and

(5)  the Code Provision C.2.1 which requires at least annually conduct a
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control.

An explanation of the deviations is set out at below. The Company will
review its current practice in order to comply with the requirements of the
Code Provisions.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements of director’s securities
transaction stated in the GEM Listing Rules. All the Directors of the
Company have confirmed that they have complied with the requirements
as set out in the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board comprises of six members and their positions are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHU Chien Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHU Chick Kei

Mr. CHU Sen Hei

Non-executive Director
Dr. FUNG Shiu Lun, Anthony

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. HONG Yong Hwan
Mr. ZHU Lei Bo
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Profiles of Directors are set out on pages 11 and 12 of this annual report
for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

The Board comprises of only two independent non-executive directors
and is not in compliance with Rule 5.05 of the GEM Listing Rules which
requires, among others, every board of directors must include at least
three independent non-executive directors.

The Company will appoint at least three independent non-executive
directors in order to comply with the relevant requirement of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Directors, with relevant and sufficient experience and qualification
have exercised due care, fiduciary duties to the significant issues of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”). Mr. CHU Chien Tung is the
brother of Mr. CHU Chick Kei and the father of Mr. CHU Sen Hei. All other
Directors have no relation to each other or all Directors have no business
relation with the Group.

The Directors held four meetings and the attendance of the Directors for
the financial year ended 31st March, 2011 is as follows:

Name of Director Attendance
Mr. CHU Chien Tung 4/4
Mr. CHU Chick Kei 4/4
Mr. CHU Sen Hei 4/4
Dr. FUNG Shiu Lun, Anthony 3/4
Mr. HONG Yong Hwan 4/4
Mr. ZHU Lei Bo 4/4

The Board may also approve matters by resolution in writing. Information
of material issues, due notice of meeting and minutes of each directors’
meeting have been sent to each of the Directors for their information,
comment and review.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual.

The Company does not have an officer with the title of “Chief Executive
Officer”. Mr. CHU Chien Tung is responsible for the management of
the Board and strategic development of the Company. Mr. CHU Chick
Kei and Mr. CHU Sen Hei respectively are responsible for the day to day
management of the Group. Mr. CHU Chien Tung is also responsible for
the overall management and decision of the Group. This constitutes
a deviation of the Code Provision of A.2.1. As Mr. CHU Chien Tung
has extensive experience in the industry, the Board considers that the
arrangement is beneficial to the Group as a whole. Despite the aforesaid,
the Board will review such arrangement from time to time and consider
the appointment of a chief executive officer in the best interest of the
Company and its shareholders.

RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company retire by rotation according to the Articles
of the Company which states, among others, that one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall retire by
rotation provided that the chairman of the Board shall not be subject to
retirement by rotation or be taken into account in determining the number
of Directors to retire each year.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors are
not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the next Annual General Meeting.

The relevant retiring Director has offered himself for election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has not established a remuneration committee, the Board
is authorised by the Shareholders at Annual General Meeting to fix the
remuneration of the Directors whereas a Director shall abstain from voting
in respect of any remuneration and fees paid to his interest. The Company
will arrange for the setting up of a remuneration committee in order to
comply with the Code Provision.

IERITRAR
SFRGXBEA21ERE  ERERITRERZBBAT
5 BTERE— ALHE:

ARBAEA [TTREE ] BBE2SRBE - RER
FEABARAZEETENEIE N ERRE - KERL
FHEERRBEENHEEAREXBE ZAEER
AERRAETBEARENBRBEEIRR - ILEH
Prim B s AMEXXE A2 MR ZRTE - IR RERE LT
BFEEXARR HEFTSNRRULRHANRALE
BoEE-BELABR BEEE@RTHRINEGHEE
B AYRTEARBARERRKEMNRREBRET
AR E, -

EEmARE

ARBEERBEARFZAMERAR@WRERET A
AR (BREEM) ER =2 —MNES (LE=0N
—HMBETREY ARBEOIEAEZR=NZz—NE
FEREGREE HESEIRIXBREEMR
REEFMFANRESFHRRIESABNEE -

FETESRBIYFATES

FUTEZRFIUNTESYEEELEH BEAR
BEERINTRAERBEFAG LERE T

FRREIZEEER TARRBFRE LERET-

Hi

FHEES
ARBWEXRIHIHEZR G BRNBFREFRE
EXRfETESME AMZRESTAREREN
TRZHEELERBETRRE - ARBGEERILE
MEBEAFA TR ZRE

Annual Report 2010/11 15
2010/11 F3§




INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has not conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of
the system of internal control as the Board considered that resumption of
trading in shares is needed to be dealt with priority. At the same time, an
effective internal control is one of the important factors for resumption
of trading in shares; therefore, the Company will conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the system of internal control in order to comply with the
Code Provision.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee’s principal duties are the review and supervision of
the Company's financial reporting process. The existing audit committee
comprises two independent non-executive directors, Mr. Hong Yong Hwan
and Mr. Zhu Lei Bo.

Mr. Hong and Mr. Zhu attended all the four audit committee meetings
held during the year and performed the following duties:

1. reviewed the audited consolidated results of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31st March, 2010.

2. reviewed the unaudited consolidated results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the three months ended 30th June, 2010, for the
six months ended 30th September, 2010 and for the nine months
ended 31st December, 2010.

The audit committee has also reviewed on 20th June, 2011 the audited
consolidated results of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

The existing Audit Committee comprises only of two Independent Non-
executive Directors and is not in compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules which requires, among others, the audit committees must
comprise a minimum of three members.

The Company will arrange to appoint at least three Audit Committee

members in order to comply with the relevant requirement of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Rule 11.07(2) of the GEM Listing Rules requires the appointment, among
other offices, of a company secretary. The Company has not appointed a
company secretary and is not in compliance with Rule 11.07(2) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

The Company will arrange to appoint a company secretary in order to
comply with the relevant requirement of the GEM Listing Rules.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Nomination committee of the Company is not considered necessary after
the assessment of the present situation of the Company. The Board will
review the profile of the current Directors and nominate directors (if any)
on a regular basis in order to ensure that the composition of the Board is
capable to fulfill its obligation and responsibility.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

An amount of HK$400,000 (2010: HK$400,000) for audit services was
charged to the Group's consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31st March, 2011. There was no non-audit service
assignment undertaken by the external auditors during the year.

PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group and the auditor of the Company has set
out its responsibilities in the independent auditor’s report in this annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2011.
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Report of the Directors

The directors present the annual report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 15 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2011 are set out
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 30 of the
annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 31st March, 2011.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the Group
during the year are set in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 33 of this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31st March, 2011, the Company’s reserve available for distribution
as calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands amounted to HK$91,988,000. Under the laws of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of
the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium account may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results of the Group for each of the five years ended
31st March, 2011 is set out on page 5 of the annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements during the year in the Group's property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

There was no movement in the Company’s authorised or issued share
capital during the year. Further details in relation to the authorised
and issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors EE & &

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS EEREERKEY
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this ARABFANBEARESH s EENT:

report were:

Executive Directors HTES

Mr. CHU Chien Tung (Chairman) KEREE (FE)
Mr. CHU Chick Kei KREREE

Mr. CHU Sen Hei KEEEE
Non-executive Director FHITES

Dr. FUNG Shiu Lun, Anthony ViPl9 =
Independent Non-executive Directors BYEHTES
Mr. HONG Yong Hwan BB A

Mr. ZHU Lei Bo BREE

In accordance with the Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of RIEARXRZAGIEMZERMAIFES7IE  HIKBIEL
Association, Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, Anthorny shall retire at the forthcoming ZBREEMREEAFACHESE THAEKAEE
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election. [EEEAT o

Each of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Sen Hei has S$EBRELE -KELLERSEBELEESHEAD
entered into a service contract with the Company. Particulars of these FFIMVIRIEEX BB BIEMPEHEIIN ZEANZFE
contracts, except as indicated, are in all material respects identical and are R&EEAFEHMER &P 0T

set out below:

1. each service contract of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and 1.
Chu Sen Hei is of two years duration commenced on 1st August,
2004 which appointment shall continue after the expiry of the fixed
term until terminated by either party by giving to the other party not
less than three months’ notice in writing expiring not earlier than the
date of expiry of the initial fixed term of employment of two years;

2. each of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Sen Hei 2.
is entitled to a monthly salary plus a double pay equivalent to one
month’s salary;

3. each of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Sen Heiis 3.
entitled to such management bonus by reference to the consolidated
net profits of the Group after taxation (“Net Profits”) as the Board
may approve provided that the aggregate amount of management
bonuses payable to all executive directors in respect of any financial
year of the Group shall not exceed 20% of the Net Profits for the
relevant financial year; and

REREE - KRERLEERKRRELESZBZR
BEAR_ZZEMNFNA—RAHR REREFER
BEEHEmRBEEE BEEET—FEEM
HHBLTIOR=ZEAZE@MBME LRI T
ZBAZ B IERE AR RIRET 2 WFEE
R

REREE KERLEERKRRELESEFE
ERA#H ZNEERN-—EAFezEE:

RERELE - KREREERRRELEHERRK
HMEREL  ZEA DB EEE A RIEZ R
SEBRRz2EAMMN (AN FE HERE
ERNEMMBRFERNTERATETZERE
TEARE THEBABYBRFEMAN20% : &
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Report of the Directors

4. each of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Sen Hei
shall abstain from voting and not be counted in the quorum in
respect of any resolution of the Board regarding the amount of
annual salary and management bonus payable to himself.

Mr. Hong Yong Hwan, has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Particulars of the contract are set out below:

1. the service contract of Mr. Hong Yong Hwan is of initial fixed term of
one year commenced on 18th September, 2003 which appointment
shall continue after the expiry of the initial fixed term and either
party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other party at
least one month’s notice in writing expiring not earlier than the date
of expiry of the initial fixed term of employment of one year; and

2. Mr. Hong Yong Hwan is entitled to director fee.

Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, Anthony has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Particulars of the contract are set out below:

1. the service contract of Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, Anthony is of initial fixed
term of one year commenced on 1st June, 2004 which appointment
shall continue after the expiry of the initial fixed term and either
party may terminate the appointment by giving to the other party at
least one month’s notice in writing expiring not earlier than the date
of expiry of the initial fixed term of employment of one year; and

2. Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, Anthony is entitled to director fee.

Save as disclosed above, none of the executive directors, the independent
non-executive directors and the non-executive director has entered into
any service contract with the Group.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the directors has entered into any
service agreements with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received annual confirmations from each of its Company
independent non-executive directors in respect of their independence. The
Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors
are independent based on the guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31st March, 2011, the interests of the directors and the chief executive
officer of the Company and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"))
which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the
GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by directors, were as
follows:

Long positions
(a) Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company and
underlying shares

-

EERROKEERS 2ES

RZE——FZA=+—H ARAEERTHAEHR
REEZHBEAL RAQRSKETAEREE (T
ERABHFRPEEG ([EHRBEKRD]) BEXVEL) 2
A& 15 K AR BA R 15 A %ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&%%%%%w%
FIRSDEEMEER STz HEm (BIERE
BEREE 1%%@%Xﬁ%ﬁﬁ¢i“¢%ﬁ2%
HEAR) RATLHERARRIREEF RPEKD
FEI(FE E LM 2= HIREBAIZER EHR
AIFS 466 BRESHITR SR HZ2HTENE AR
AIRBERFT 2T

wA
(a) AREEKREE0OVETZEERRIEHER G

Percentage of

Number of the issued

issued ordinary share capital

shares held of the Company

Name of director Capacity e &I HAEATE BT
EEpnE ) EEREE RAE ML
Mr. Chu Chien Tung Held by controlled corporation (Note) 560,000,000 50.7%

RERREE mEEBEE (i)

Note:

These shares were held indirectly by Tungda Industrial Limited (“Tungda
Industrial”) through its beneficial interest in the entire issued share capital of
Standard Exceed Limited. Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Siu
Chun (father of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung and Chu Chick Kei) jointly hold the
entire issued share capital of Tungda Industrial.
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) 1) #E@E P Standard Exceed Limited 2 3 2 217
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Report of the Directors ZBEEMWE

(b) Share options (b) BERE

Number of

Number of underlying

Name of directors Capacity options held shares

BENS 5% B RESRE HERGEE

Mr. Chu Chien Tung Beneficial owner 1,054,944 1,054,944
KERREE ExnEAA

Mr. Chu Chick Kei Beneficial owner 1,054,944 1,054,944
KERRTE ExnEAA

Mr. Chu Sen Hei Beneficial owner 10,549,440 10,549,440
KEERE ExnEAA

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors and chief executive
officer of the Company and their associates has any interest or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations at 31st March, 2011.

SHARE OPTIONS

Pursuant to the Company’s share option scheme adopted on 12th July,
2002, the Board may grant share options to any directors, full time and
part time employees of the Group and the consultant or adviser of the
Group. Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note
22 to the consolidated financial statements.

No share option is granted, cancelled or exercised during the year.

22 Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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A summary of the movements in the Company’s share options during the
year is as follows:

Report of the Directors

-

AREBRERFANZEHHPMMT :

Number of share options

BREHE
Closing Grant or
Exercise price At exercised At
price at the date 31st March, during 31st March,
per share of grant 2010 the year 2011
Date of grant Exercisable period SRER RELAH R-B-3F FREL  RZE--%
RHAH RS @ <WmE =ZA=t-AH g7 =ZB=t-AH
HKS HKS
AT B
Directors
gz
Mr. Chu Chien Tung 21st November, 2003 29th November, 2003 - 0.452 0.440 1,054,944 - 1,054,944
28th November, 2013
RERAE “FE-F+-A-F+-8 ZEE-E+-A-TARE
ZE-ZE+-AZT/\R
Mr. Chu Chick Kei 21st November, 2003 29th November, 2003 - 0.452 0.440 1,054,944 - 1,054,944
28th November, 2013
KEREE ZFE=F+-A=+-8 ZER=E+-A-thBE
ZE-ZE+-AZT/\A
Mr. Chu Sen Hei 21st November, 2003 29th November, 2003 - 0.452 0.440 10,549,440 - 10,549,440
28th November, 2013
KEBLE ZFE=F+-A=+-8 ZER=E+-A-thBE
ZE-=E+-AZ1/\A
Sub-total /NEF 12,659,328 - 12,659,328
Employees
k&
3rd October, 2003 22nd October, 2003 - 0.345 0.345 33,140,672 - 33,140,672
21st October, 2013
ZETZETAZH ZEE=ETAZTIRE
—E-=£+A-1+-A
Total 485t 45,800,000 - 45,800,000
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Report of the Directors

The directors consider that it is not appropriate to value the share options
on the ground that certain crucial factors for such valuation are variables
which cannot be reasonably and objectively determined. Any such
valuation of the share options based on speculative assumptions in respect
of such variables would not be meaningful and the results thereof may be
misleading to the shareholders of the Company.

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the
balance sheet of the Company until such time as the options are
exercised, and no charge is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income in respect of the value of options granted, if any,
in the year. Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares
issued are recorded by the Company as additional share capital at the
nominal value of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per share
over the nominal value of the shares is recorded by the Company in the
share premium account. Options which lapse or are cancelled are deleted
from the register of outstanding options.

Save as disclosed herein, none of the directors and chief executive officer
and their associates has any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO) as recorded in the register
to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate. None of
the directors of the Company, or their spouses or children under 18 years
of age, had any rights to subscribe for the shares of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group paid rental amounting to HK$108,000 to
Tungda Industrial. Details of such transactions are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed above, no other contracts of significance to which
the Company, its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at end of the year
or at any time during the year.
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Report of the Directors

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Group was entered into or
existed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31

st March, 2011, the following substantial shareholders (other than

a director or chief executive officer of the Company) who have interests
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares as recorded in the

EFREWE

BEEEN
ERLEI TR A AN EREE A EERERE
AEREBZAK -

FERR

RBARRIRE R RMEGRIIFE336 GEENSLM
sk R_Z——F=ZA=+—H BRAEARAES
HITEHRAESN AT E BRI B D RAB R R 7

register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Bz AR
the SFO:
Long positions #a
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each of the Company AR AEREE.01E T2 EBER
Number of
issued ordinary
shares held
in the Company Approximate
RAERQFE percentage
e &I B
Name of shareholders BRRES BB ZEREE BET DL
Standard Exceed Limited (Note 7) Standard Exceed Limited (#72£7) 560,000,000 50.7%
Tungda Industrial Limited (Note 1) RARIE(KE)BRAAE (Hi1) 560,000,000 50.7%
Mr. Chu Chien Tung (Note 2) KEREE (HiE2) 560,000,000 50.7%
Ms. Chan Pik Kam (Note 3) BREZL L (f7:73) 560,000,000 50.7%

Notes:

Standard Exceed Limited is wholly and beneficially-owned by Tungda Industrial
which in turn is beneficially-owned as to 33.33334% by Mr. Chu Chien Tung,
33.33333% by Mr. Chu Chick Kei and 33.33333% by Mr. Chu Siu Chun. Mr.
Chu Siu Chun has no management role in the Group.

Under Section 336 of the SFO, Mr. Chu Chien Tung is deemed to have
interests in all the shares of the Company which Tungda Industrial has
interests as he is entitled to exercise more than one-third of the voting power
at general meeting of Tungda Industrial. The other two shareholders of
Tungda Industrial, namely Messrs. Chu Chick Kei and Chu Siu Chun, are not
so deemed as they are not entitled to exercise more than one-third of the
voting power at general meeting of Tungda Industrial.

Ms. Chan Pik Kam is the wife of Mr. Chu Chien Tung. Under Section 336 of
the SFO, she is deemed to have interest in all the shares in which Mr. Chu
Chien Tung is interested.

-

3.

Standard Exceed Limited "R AT (£E)2 &
EanB MRAILE(SE)AHABRLTE K
BRTERKFBESED A EHHEHF33.33334%
33.33333%/%33.33333% @ KRB X ERAEE
N TR B A o

RIBFE = LA ERPIE33606G ERREREEAER
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SAR BB R AREREE RARBELEBENRATE
(EEDBRRRG LITRBE=7 2 —WIEEE 8K
SWRLY ERE LSS -

RESLLARRREENZEF BEEFLBERK
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Report of the Directors

Save as disclosed above, no other person (other than a director or chief
executive officer of the Company) has an interest or a short position in
the shares and underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest customers of the Group in aggregate
accounted for approximately 66.14% of the Group's total turnover and
the largest customer accounted for approximately 52.62% of its total
turnover. The five largest suppliers of the Group in aggregate accounted
for approximately 70.51% of its total purchases for the year. Purchases
from the largest supplier accounted for approximately 26.17% of its total
purchases.

None of the directors, their respective associates, or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) has any interest in any of the five largest
customers and the five largest suppliers of the Group for the year ended
31st March, 2011.

All transactions between the Group and its customers were carried out on
normal commercial terms.

COMPETING INTERESTS

During the year, the Board is not aware of any business or interest of
each director, management shareholder and their respective associates
that compete or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have with the
Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association, or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on pro-rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.
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Report of the Directors

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee’s principal duties are the review and supervision of
the Company's financial reporting process. The existing audit committee
comprises two independent non-executive directors, Mr. Hong Yong Hwan
and Mr. Zhu Lei Bo.

The audit committee has reviewed on 20th June, 2011 the audited
consolidated results of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of its Directors as at the latest practicable date prior to
the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained a sufficient
prescribed public float of its issued shares as required under the GEM
Listing Rules during the year.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs. TING HO KWAN & CHAN,
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS, who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment, as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHU CHIEN TUNG
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2011
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Independent Auditor’s Report B fZ &Rk S

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACTISING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TUNGDA INNOVATIVE LIGHTING HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tungda
Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 88, which comprise the consolidated
and company balance sheets as at 31st March, 2011, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with the agreed terms of the engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report B3 #Z &Rk &

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at
31st March, 2011 and of the Group's loss and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)

Hong Kong, 20th June, 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 HEZ=ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
= —ETF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
i3 FHET FET
Turnover EHEE 6 12,765 11,333
Cost of sales 4 & AR (11,729) (12,177)
Gross profit/(loss) ER,(£8) 1,036 (844)
Other income Hfth W & 7 1,460 1,618
Selling and distribution costs HE R DIHE R (511) (530)
Administrative expenses THXH (7.224) (7,117)
Impairment loss of property, W BREMEEREERE
plant and equipment 13 (15,694) -
Operating loss FCE— g F =] 8 (20,933) (6,873)
Finance costs A& KA 9 (17) (25)
Loss before taxation FRBi A 18 (20,950) (6,898)
Taxation ] 10 - -
Loss for the year attributable to EATREEFEA
the equity holders of the Company BLEFEAEE 11 (20,950) (6,898)
Other comprehensive income: Htt2mEkE:
Exchange differences on translation of BINEBH B MR CERER
financial statements of foreign operations 16,684 221
Total comprehensive expense EATREZHEA
for the year attributable to EBEFEFR2EXH
the equity holders of the Company (4,266) (6,677)
Loss per share BREE
— Basic —EAK 12 (1.89) HK cents &1l | (0.62) HK cents 71l

The notes on pages 35 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated  $35E88E 2 [ff i B AN4r & B & 3R & — 2B 1D o
financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

As at 31st March, 2011 R=ZE——F=HA=+—H

HeBERER

2011 2010
—_E2——F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°000
M iF FHET FET
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB MR E 13 18,640 38,707
Leasehold land and land use rights & - Hb J2 (s AR 14 10,377 10,144
29,017 48,851
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 2,903 3,741
Trade and other receivables FENE 5 5RIE Ko E A FE YRR 3R 17 3,314 3,460
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEE 18 360,612 345,033
366,829 352,234
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FE T & 5 5B K A FE AT BR 3R 19 17,755 18,602
Obligation under a finance lease BB E AR
— due within one year —R—F RN 20 133 126
17,888 18,728
Net current assets REEEFE 348,941 333,506
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRABAE 377,958 382,357
Non-current liabilities FREAE
Obligation under a finance lease TR E R 20 93 226
Net assets EEEE 377,865 382,131
Equity s
Share capital N 21 11,056 11,056
Reserves ffE 1 23 366,809 371,075
Total equity EREE 377,865 382,131
The consolidated financial statements on pages 30 to 88 were approved $30%88E VAN BHBRERECHR _E——F A+

and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20th June, 2011 and

are signed on its behalf by:

CHU Chien Tung

RER
DIRECTOR
EF

The notes on pages 35 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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RESESHAERRETE THTIIEERREE:

CHU Chick Kei
RER
DIRECTOR
EF
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Balance Sheet

As at 31st March, 2011 R =—ZE——F=ZA=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$°'000
e FET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries L INEPNGIE: £ 15 104,413 106,016
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H 4th B UK BR 5k 238 350
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESE 18 46 47
284 397
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables Hh FE A BR X 1,053 1,280
Amounts due to directors JEHEERIA 600 813
1,653 2,093
Net current liabilities REBEEREE (1,369) (1,696)
Net assets EEFRE 103,044 104,320
Equity s
Share capital N 21 11,056 11,056
Reserves G 23 91,988 93,264
Total equity EmBE 103,044 104,320
The financial statements on pages 30 to 88 were approved and authorised  $30E88E VM KHEE N _E——F A -+ HE
for issue by the Board of Directors on 20th June, 2011 and are signed on EBE@H ELFEETIE TR THIEEREES:

its behalf by:

CHU Chien Tung
KER
DIRECTOR
BF

The notes on pages 35 to 88 are an integral part of these financial
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 4Fr&EZREE)R

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 HE—F——F=A=+—HILFE

Share Share Special Translation General  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
(Note 23) (Note 23)
RA  ROHEE HHREE EXRE -REE RKREEAN &
(Hit23) (Hiit23)

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET T T8 /BT T8 TET FET

Balance as at 1st April, 2009 RZZENF
HA—H&ER 11,056 101,670 (2,128) 59,223 17,383 201,604 388,808

Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEERE ()
income for the year - - - 221 - (6,898) (6,677)

Balance as at 31st March, 2010 ® £

+—R&F 11,056 101,670 (2,128) 59,444 17,383 194,706 382,131

=
A

Total comprehensive (expense)/ AEERE () hE
income for the year - - - 16,684 - (20,950) (4,266)

Balance as at 31st March, 2011 R-ZE——F
=R=t+-H&% 11,056 101,670 (2,128) 76,128 17,383 173,756 377,865

The notes on pages 35 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated 535Z88H v W itEA4GRA P IEHRE — 310 -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows #HR&IR&EnER

For the year ended 31st March, 2011 HEZ=ZE——F=A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
—E——fF T -ZF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Operating activities RESEE
Loss before taxation PR B Al S 18 (20,950) (6,898)
Adjustments for: FHE
Interest income B WA (1,331) (1,377)
Depreciation and amortisation e R 6,119 5,837
Finance costs A& KA 17 25
Bad debts written off I AR 8 164 145
Impairment loss of property, Y WEREERE
plant and equipment BB 15,694 -
Operating loss before changes EIEESBEATH
in working capital KRR (287) (2,268)
Inventories FE 713 1,555
Trade and other receivables FEULE 5 5018 K B e U AR 5K (118) 760
Trade and other payables FEHE 5 5018 K B FE T RR 3K (1,608) 567
Cash (used in)/ generated from KEEK (FFR) FBRE
operations (1,300) 614
Income tax paid [RENPEIEEY = (5,698)
Net cash used in operating activities RETBHFAREFHE (1,300) (5,084)
Investing activities RETE
Purchase of property, plant and BEWE KEREZE
equipment (9) -
Interest received 2 U F 8 1,331 1,377
Net cash generated from investing REZBMBHRLBEEHE
activities 1,322 1,377
Financing activities AESER
Finance charges paid ENEERX (17) (25)
Repayment of capital element of BMEHEEARLHER
a finance lease (126) (118)
Net cash used in financing activities RETEMARSEE (143) (143)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents BRE&RRESZERD (121) (3,850)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning £ Z2HERBEELEE
of the year 345,033 348,685
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes JER &5 § 15,700 198
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRZ2BERALEHE (Hiz18)
the year (note 18) 360,612 345,033

The notes on pages 35 to 88 are an integral part of these consolidated  Z£35E88EH ~ M B AL A BB E — M o
financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

GENERAL INFORMATION

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The
shares of the Company are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 26th July, 2002.

The Company’s ultimate holding company is Tungda Industrial
Limited (“Tungda Industrial”), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal
activities of the Group are trading and manufacturing of light source
products. The address of its registered office is at Century Yard,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT, George Town,
Grand Cayman, British West Indies. The address of its principal place
of business of the Company is at Room 1903A, 19th Floor, Nanyang
Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

At the request of the Company, the Company’s shares have been
suspended from trading on the Stock Exchange since 29th July,
2004.

With reference to the Company’s announcement on 13th August,
2010, certain executive directors and staff were involved in the
investigation by the Commercial Crime Bureau of Hong Kong Police
Force. The board of directors considers that it would not have
any material impact on the operation and financial condition of
the Company. The relevant executive directors have subsequently
informed the Company that the trials in relation to the case will
be commenced in July, 2011. As at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of the board of
directors, the Board and the management of the Company were
stable and the Company maintained normal operation.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

36

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS”), which also include Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS”) and Interpretations (“Int”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the "Listing Rules”). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention. A summary of significant accounting
policies adopted by the Group is set out in note 3.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements, are disclosed in note 5.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group and the Company. Note 4 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3
The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
the balance sheet date.

(b) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists
when the Group has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values
of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis,
the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances and transactions and any unrealised profits arising
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests (previously known as “minority
interests”), represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which
the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the
holders of those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of those
interests that meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at their
proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
balance sheet within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling
interests in the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests and
the equity shareholders of the Company. Loan from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities in
the consolidated balance sheet in accordance with note 3(k)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts
of controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
assets or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less any impairment losses,
unless the investments are classified as held for sale (or
included in a disposal group that is classified as held for
sale). The results of the subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Leasehold land and land use rights

Leasehold land and land use rights are lump sum upfront
payments to acquire long-term interest in lessee-occupied
properties. Leasehold land and land use rights relating to
buildings of the Group are stated at cost and are amortised
over the period of the lease on the straight-line basis to profit
or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the balance sheet
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:
Buildings 20 years or the unexpired
term of lease,

whichever is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20%
Plant and machinery 10%
Motor vehicles 20%
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

The assets’ residual values (if any) and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. The gain or loss on derecognition of the asset,
calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the item, is included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period
the item is derecognised.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the
carrying amount of the item and are recognised in profit or
loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines
that the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset
or assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment
or a series of payments. Such a determination is made based
on an evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.

Leases of assets are classified as finance leases when the
leases transfer substantially all risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of the assets to the Group. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

(i)  Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are recognised in
the balance sheet at amounts equal to the fair value
of the leased assets, or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments, each determined at the
inception of the lease. The corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, on the finance leases are recorded
as obligations under finance leases. All assets held
under finance leases are classified as property, plant
and equipment, except for those properties held to
earn rental income which are classified as investment
property, in the balance sheet.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

()

(9)

Leases (Continued)

(i)  Finance leases (Continued)
Depreciation and impairment loss are calculated and
recognised in the same manner as the depreciation and
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment as set
out in note 3(d), except for the estimated useful lives
cannot exceed the relevant lease terms, if shorter.

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between
finance charge and the reduction of the outstanding
liabilities. The finance charge is recognised in profit or
loss over the period of the lease term so as to produce
a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.

(ii) Operating leases
Where the Group is the lessee, lease payments under
an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease term.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. They are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. They are included in
current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months
after the balance sheet date which are classified as non-current
assets. The Group's loans and receivables comprise “Trade and
other receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is determined using the weighted average method.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related
production overheads (based on normal operating capacity).
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair
value and, after initial recognition, at amortised cost less any
allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful debts, except
for the following receivables:

(h)

(i)

(@)

interest-free loans made to related parties without any
fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting being
immaterial, that are measured at cost less any allowance
for impairment of bad and doubtful debts; and

short-term receivables with no stated interest rate and
the effect of discounting being immaterial, that are
measured at their original invoiced amount less any
allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful debts.

Impairment of assets

(i)

Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are stated at
cost or amortised cost are reviewed at each balance
sheet date to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to
the attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of receivables (Continued)
If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss is
determined and recognised as follows:

For trade and other current receivables and other
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets),
where the effect of discounting is material. This
assessment is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk characteristics,
such as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed for impairment
collectively are based on historical loss experience for
assets with credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised, the impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss. A reversal of an impairment loss shall not
result in the asset’s carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.

Impairment losses are written off against the
corresponding assets directly, except for impairment
losses recognised in respect of trade debtors and bills
receivables included within trade and other receivables,
whose recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the
Group is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount
considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
debtors and bills receivable directly and any amounts
held in the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
charged to the allowance account are reversed against
the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at each balance sheet date to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or an impairment
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

- property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

- leasehold land and land use rights classified as
being held under an operating lease; and

- investments in subsidiaries.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its net selling price and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash flows largely independent of those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses
recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of the
assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less
costs to sell, or value in use, if determinable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of assets (Continued)
(ii) Impairment of other assets (Continued)
- Reversals of impairment losses
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been
a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash at banks and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and, after initial recognition, at amortised cost, except for the
following payables:

(i) short-term payables with no stated interest rate and
the effect of discounting being immaterial, that are
measured at their original invoiced amount; and

(ii)  interest free loans from related parties without any fixed
repayment terms or the effect of discounting being
immaterial, that are measured at cost.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised
in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates (and laws) enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1

(m)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial
statements. However, if the deferred tax arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for. The amount of deferred tax is measured based
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax
assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews and assesses
the recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets and the
future taxable profit to determine whether any recognised
deferred tax assets should be derecognised and any
unrecognised deferred tax assets should be recognised.

Deferred tax asset is provided on temporary differences arising
on investments in subsidiaries, except where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit costs

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), the PRC based employees
of the Group participate in various defined contribution
retirement benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal
and provincial governments in the PRC under which the Group
and the PRC based employees are required to make monthly
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salaries.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

(n)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefit costs (Continued)

The municipal and provincial governments undertake to
assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired PRC based employees payable under the plans
described above. Other than the monthly contributions, the
Group has no further obligation for the payment of retirement
and other post retirement benefits of its employees. The
assets of these plans are held separately from those of the
Group in independently administrated funds managed by the
governments.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme in Hong Kong (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance, for those employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Provided it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and
the costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

(o)

(p)

0]

(ii)

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
Group has delivered the goods to the customers and the
customer has accepted the goods together with the risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods. Revenue is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (“the functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign
operation which are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit
or loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or
loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial
assets, are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the fair value
reserve.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

- assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

- income and expenses for each profit or loss are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

- all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated
as hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated separately
in equity in the translation reserve. When a foreign
operation is sold, such exchange differences are
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit
or loss on disposal is recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the year-
end closing rate.
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

(r)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’'s most senior executive management for
the purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i)  the party has the ability, directly or indirectly through
one or more intermediaries, to control the Group or
exercise significant influence over the Group in making
financial and operating policy decisions, or has joint
control over the Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common control,

(iii)  the party is an associate of the Group or a joint venture
in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv)  the party is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or the Group’s parent, or a close family
member of such an individual, or is an entity under the
control, joint control or significant influence of such
individuals;

(v)  the party is a close family member of a party referred to
in (i) or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals; or

50 Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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3 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
(r) Related parties (Continued)
(vi)  the party is a post-employment benefit plan which is for
the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity
that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that individual in their dealings with the entity.

4 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group. Of these,
the following developments are relevant to the Group’s financial

statements:

HKFRS 3 (revised Business combinations
2008)

Amendments to Consolidated and separate financial
HKAS 27 statements

Amendments to Non-current assets held for sale and
HKFRS 5 discontinued operations — plan to sell

the controlling interest in a subsidiary

Amendments to Financial instruments: Recognition and

HKAS 39 measurement — Eligible hedged items

Improvements to
HKFRSs (2009)

HK(IFRIC) 17 Distributions of non-cash assets to
owners
HK(Int) 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —

Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

The amendments to HKAS 39 and the issuance of HK(Int) 5 have
had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements as the
amendment and the interpretation’s conclusions were consistent
with policies already adopted by the Group. The other developments
resulted in changes in accounting policy but none of these changes
in policy have a material impact on the current or comparative
periods, for the following reasons:

- The impact of the majority of the revisions to HKFRS 3, HKAS
27, HKFRS 5 and HK(IFRIC) 17 have not had a material effect
on the Group's financial statements as these changes will first
be effective as and when the Group enters into a relevant
transaction (for example, a business combination, a disposal
of a subsidiary or a non-cash distribution) and there is no
requirement to restate the amounts recorded in respect of
previous such transactions.
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4

52

CHA

NGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The impact of the amendments to HKFRS 3 (in respect of
recognition of acquiree’s deferred tax assets) and HKAS 27
(in respect of allocation of losses to non-controlling interests
(previously known as minority interests) in excess of their
equity interest) have had no material impact as there is no
requirement to restate amounts recorded in previous periods
and no such deferred tax assets or losses arose in the current
period.

Further details of these changes in accounting policy are as follows:

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), any
business combination acquired on or after 1st April, 2010 will
be recognised in accordance with the new requirements and
detailed guidance contained in HKFRS 3 (revised 2008). These
include the following changes in accounting policies:

(@) Transactions costs that the Group incurs in connection
with a business combination, such as finder’s fees, legal
fees, due diligence fees, and other professional and
consulting fees, will be expensed as incurred, whereas
previously they were accounted for as part of the cost
of the business combination and therefore impacted the
amount of goodwill recognised.

(b) If the Group holds interests in the acquiree immediately
prior to obtaining control, these interests will be treated
as if disposed of and re-acquired at fair value on the
date of obtaining control. Previously, the step-up
approach would have been applied, whereby goodwill
was computed as if accumulated at each stage of the
acquisition.

() Contingent consideration will be measured at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes in
the measurement of that contingent consideration
unrelated to facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date will be recognised in profit or loss,
whereas previously these changes were recognised as an
adjustment to the cost of the business combination and
therefore impacted the amount of goodwill recognised.

(d) If the acquiree has accumulated tax losses or other
temporary deductible differences and these fail to meet
the recognition criteria for deferred tax assets at date of
acquisition, then any subsequent recognition of these
assets will be recognised in profit or loss, rather than as
an adjustment to goodwill as was previously the policy.
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) In addition to Group's existing policy of measuring
the non-controlling interests (previously known as
the “minority interests”) in the acquiree at the non-
controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net identifiable assets, in future the Group
may elect, on a transaction by transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interest at fair value.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 3
(revised 2008), these new accounting policies will be applied
prospectively to any business combinations in the current
or future periods. The new policy in respect of recognition
in the movement of deferred tax assets will also be applied
prospectively to accumulated tax losses and other temporary
deductible differences acquired in previous business
combinations. No adjustments have been made to the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates preceded the application
of this revised standard.

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 27 (amended 2008), the
following changes in policies will be applied as from 1st April,
2010.

(@) If the Group acquires an additional interest in a non-
wholly owned subsidiary, the transaction will be
accounted for as a transaction with equity shareholders
(the non-controlling interests) in their capacity as
owners and therefore no goodwill will be recognised
as a result of such transactions. Similarly, if the Group
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but still
retains control, this transaction will also be accounted
for as a transaction with equity shareholders (the non-
controlling interests) in their capacity as owners and
therefore no profit or loss will be recognised as a result
of such transactions. Previously the Group treated such
transactions as step-up transactions and partial disposal,
respectively.

(b) If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
transactions will be accounted for as a disposal of the
entire interest in that subsidiary, with any remaining
interest retained by the Group being recognised at
fair value as if reacquired. In addition, as a result of
the adoption of the amendments to HKFRS 5, if at the
balance sheet date, the Group has the intention to
dispose of a controlling interest in a subsidiary, the entire
interest in that subsidiary will be classified as held for
sale (assuming that the held for sale criteria in HKFRS
5 are met) irrespective of the extent to which Group
will retain an interest. Previously such transactions were
treated as partial disposals.
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4 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4 BItBRERzZH® (&)
In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS 27, these new BBEBEABGHEAFE2TR ZBEBRX  ZEH
accounting policies will be applied prospectively to transactions in SHBRERBEARTHAMSCKRKRAR RS
current or future periods and therefore previous periods have not B I S A T A

been restated.

- In order to be consistent with the above amendments to — RTBEAFBUBHREENEIRRE
HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27, and as a result of amendments to BEFERIE27H 2B A — B Nt
HKAS 28, Investments in associates, and HKAS 31, Interests in ARG ERFE28F R E RNA 2 "E R
joint ventures, the following policies will be applied as from BB EABENTREELE R
1st April, 2010: B THBRBEE T —EFHA—H

RBAERL

(@) If the Group holds interests in the acquiree immediately () WAEBREEZEMESEATE K
prior to obtaining significant influence or joint control, HEZEHEZAFERKREBARTZ
these interests will be treated as if disposed of and e A EBAERGERABEER
reacquired at fair value on the date of obtaining BEERTE N HRZEGEE R
significant influence or joint control. Previously, the step- BATEHETEHEARE - BEE
up approach would have been applied, whereby goodwill KAZELIEINERE - RIBE LN
was computed as if accumulated at each stage of the R EEER  BOEREER
acquisition. HERRGT —HETE

(b) If the Group loses significant influence or joint control, (b) fWAEBREEATE W LRIE
the transaction will be accounted for as a disposal of i EBEXSBEULERBEZE
the entire interest in that investee, with any remaining R ERNT 2 2w - 0] R ERE
interest being recognised at fair value as if reacquired. mEEHNBRE KR A T ER
Previously such transactions were treated as partial ROFTAAKR - RBE LR 5E
disposals. EBHEEZ SRR -

Consistent with the transitional provisions in HKFRS 3 and HKAS RTHEBEMGREENEIRLREEGTER

27, these new accounting policies will be applied prospectively to FTHRZBEBRNFE — B ZEFNGTHEH

transactions in current or future periods and therefore previous FEARAEMESRAR KRR 225 MUt EER

periods have been restated. B HAfE o

Other changes in accounting policies which are relevant to Group's HAEBEMERRAEA AT BREZH N

financial statements are as follows: N

- As a result of the amendments to HKAS 27, as from 1st April, — HBREBGENE2IRZ2EFT B2
2010 any losses incurred by a non-wholly owned subsidiary —TENA—BR FErEMBATZE
will be allocated between the controlling and non-controlling AERBRIERERS IR ERZRE
interests in proportion to their interests in that entity, even MEE 2RISR - BIE BB
if this results in a deficit balance within consolidated equity BRIFERER AR T BRE-
being attributed to the non-controlling interests. Previously, RBE - ROEEETHERERESE
if the allocation of losses to the non-controlling interests BB aBE ARSEEERE=ES
would have resulted in a deficit balance, the losses were only BHRAZEF EREEEBENER
allocated to the non-controlling interests if the non-controlling T FEgoEl B BEE TIEERER - RIE
interests were under a binding obligation to make good the BB ERFE27H 2 BE R BB
losses. In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS SRR B E AR A HARE 2R 2R B
27, this new accounting policy is being applied prospectively I N A B R A AT B o

and therefore previous periods have not been restated.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The Group has not early applied any new standard, amendment or
interpretation that has been issued but is not yet effective for the
current accounting period (see note 29).

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The Group’s management makes assumptions, estimates and
judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies that affect the assets, liabilities, income and expenses in
the consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
HKFRS. The assumptions, estimates and judgements are based
on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. While the management reviews
their judgements, estimates and assumptions continuously, the
actual results will seldom equal to the estimates.

(@) Key assumption and other key sources of estimation

uncertainty

Certain key assumptions and risk factors in respect of the
financial risk management are set out in note 27. Other key
sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out
as follows:

(i) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

The Group's carrying value of property, plant and
equipment as at 31st March, 2011 was approximately
HK$18,640,000. The Group depreciates the property,
plant and equipment on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of five to twenty years, and after
taking into account of their estimated residual values.
The estimated useful lives reflect the directors’ estimate
of the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of the Group's property,
plant and equipment. Management will increase the
depreciation expense where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

ZT SN BLETE RS

EHBEZRE (&)
AREBVERAEANA ST HEC EHRED
KRAERZAMFIER (BT kR B (BT
29) °

Bz gt fhat R A

REAAEEANEE BE WARAXHE
ABRRANZRBEV B REENREEEYE
BEE AEEEEEFTZYRELER A&
RV -t HRER - AET R A AR ERLR R
RREENELERAER  AGREEEET
BB RS 2 B& At RAE ERERITR
LambEt—He

(a) EEBRBMHEMMESFTRERRZIETER
R
ETHERVBRERREENEIEZBRERR
I =E R 27 - E@ﬁﬁTﬁml%Z
IERR AEHT-—HRFEEEMA
ERASBEFFEEAFEZ2EARR  #
BT

(i) YF BERZEIE
R—ZT——F=ZA=+—H £&
ErWE - BEERRXBZEREEY
7#18,640,000/8 7T N B A E & 0E
WEFTAIER (ARFEZ+F)
N WIRZEEE 2 FSREE 5
ME BERZETEIE - HaTA
AEAEETETMEM  ZHEA
SEENRERALEEDE  BER
REBESRREEEZ - WrlEAF
AR ZAMEETAIERATE ERE
AT ERM S - SRS S MURE
HERLEZEERTKEEE K
HEZIERBUEEE-
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5

56

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Key assumption and other key sources of estimation

uncertainty (Continued)

(ii) Income tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is determined with reference to the
fair value of the property, plant and equipment less costs to
sell or the value-in-use calculations. An impairment loss is
measured as the difference between asset's carrying amount
and the recoverable amount. Where the recoverable amount
is less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
As at 31st March, 2011, the carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment is approximately HK$18,640,000
(2010: HK$38,707,000) (net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment of approximately HK$60,323,000 (2010:
HK$37,383,000)).

The directors performed impairment assessment of the Group's
property, plant and equipment and the above estimation of
the recoverable amounts of plant and machinery as at 31st
March, 2011 was carried out by an independent professional
valuer, Roma Appraisals Limited. An impairment loss of
HK$15,694,000 (2010: HK$Nil) was recognised in profit or loss
during the year.

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

N E]f BER&R M

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION EEBENOHER
The Group
AEHE
2011 2010
—2——F s
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Turnover =E £

Sale of light source products $HE IRE M@ 12,765 11,333

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the Group’s executive directors for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses more
specifically on sales of house brand light source products and agency
brand light source products. The Group has presented the following
two reportable segments:

- house brand light source products
- agency brand light source products

No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above
reportable segments.

Intersegment revenue is eliminated on consolidation. Intersegment
sales and transactions are conducted in accordance with the terms
mutually agreed between the parties.

The Board assesses the performance of the business segments based

on loss before taxation without allocation of finance income/(costs),
which is consistent with that presented in the financial statements.

AEERBEMAARNEENTESTERMER
DERKRAEEFTRA S @R &K e
RBEMBEEZABYBERBAIELZEDH
KBS BER - AREC2FATREN RS

PaNivirgn
77 mp -

— K& mEJRE M
— R R YORE M
BRERBIEEDBABK LR ED -

%%ﬁﬁ?ﬂﬁl?\ﬁéé\ﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ cEDEEHE
RSB TIRBEETTHTE 2 MRFETT

E=ZRREVRINERREL DBz RIRETH
- MY ERE KA () - EEE#RE
Pt & — B
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Business segments

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information regarding the Group's reportable segments as provided
to the Board for the purpose of resources allocation and assessment
of segment performance for the years ended 31st March, 2011 and
2010 is set out below.

“ra

P e

6 EEERIBEH &)

AT o

(a) BXEIF

House brand

HE-_Z——FRK_Z—ZF=A=+—HIt
FRE-AAEEEESREMNABEAREEESHR
ZOBUBEERSE R EDBRENE R

Agency brand

light source light source
products products
KGRI RESE  Consolidated
RIFEER RFEER =E
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°'000
FET FET FE T
Segment revenue pal 1l &
For the year ended BE—F——F=H
37st March, 2011 =1+ —HIUFE
Turnover S 7,470 5,295 12,765
Results B
Segment results DERELE (417) 1,453 1,036
Impairment loss of property, mE--BE &
plant and equipment BB ERE (15,694) - (15,694)
Unallocated corporate expenses, KOBARIMAL
net of other income B E AU A (7,606)
Interest income, net of FEUA -
finance costs B g & A A 1,314
Loss before taxation Fr 4 B 5 18 (20,950)
Taxation Dl -
Loss for the year FREE (20,950)

-’
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6 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6
(@) Business segments (Continued)

(a)

House brand

ERBERIBER (&)
BELE(HE)

Agency brand

SR SRR

light source light source
products products
Py RERIE  Consolidated
KREM HIRE M@ ®E
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities BEERAHE
At 31st March, 2011 R-FE——F
ZHA=4+—H
Assets BE
Segment assets DEEE 33,162 1,510 34,672
Unallocated corporate assets ROMARIEE 361,174
Consolidated total assets REBERE 395,846
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities DEBE 14,530 715 15,245
Unallocated corporate liabilities RKOBERAFIEE 2,736
Consolidated total liabilities LAEBERE 17,981
House brand Agency brand
light source light source
products products
KEEE RERE  Unallocated Consolidated
KREM KREM AOE mE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FHET
Other information HtEE
For the year ended BE-F——%F
31st March, 2011 ZH=F—HIEFE
Impairment loss of property, M BERSERESE
plant and equipment 15,694 - - 15,694
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - B k& EITE
and equipment 5,747 - 130 5,877
Amortisation of leasehold land 8 i J + i {55 i 4 2 34
and land use rights 242 - - 242
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6 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 EEBELIHER (&)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EEFW(E)

House brand Agency brand

light source light source
products products
Py gy KERE  Consolidated
XRER KRER =E
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FET FET FET
Segment revenue gl 1l &
For the year ended BE—F—FF
371st March, 2010 ZA=T—HIFE
Turnover EET 5,458 5,875 11,333
Results ES
Segment results DEFEE (1,755) 911 (844)
Unallocated corporate expenses, RKOBARIMAEZ -
net of other income HBR E AU A (7.406)
Interest income, net of FMEWA
finance costs B B & B A 1,352
Loss before taxation 5 35 Al A (6,898)
Taxation ME -
Loss for the year FE RN

(6,898)
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6 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 ZEEXHERI»HBER (&)
(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EXEZTB(HE)

House brand Agency brand

light source light source
products products
BB KERE  Consolidated
HRE m KIRE R =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Assets and liabilities EERAE
At 31st March, 2010 R-F-FF
ZA=+—H
Assets BE
Segment assets DEBE E 53,598 1,651 55,249
Unallocated corporate assets ROBERABIEE 345,836
Consolidated total assets REEERE 401,085
Liabilities afE
Segment liabilities nHBE 14,240 1,038 15,278
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAOMARIAE 3,676
Consolidated total liabilities mEBERE 18,954
House brand Agency brand
light source light source
products products
rEmE REME  Unallocated Consolidated
KREM KREM ROE =E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T8 T8 T8 FET
Other information Hih &R
For the year ended HEr-_T—FF
31st March, 2010 ZHA=F—HIFFE
Depreciation of property, plant 1% - FiE k& ENTE
and equipment 5,469 - 137 5,606
Amortisation of leasehold land &+t [ + 4 {55 FE 4 2 85
and land use rights 231 - - 231
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6 TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b)

Geographical segments
The Group’s operations are located in the PRC and Hong

EXRBERIBES (&)
(b) i&E/'\:‘z

are B RR A

AEERPEREEMMELEER - TR

Kong. The following table provides an analysis of the Group's HIAEERMETHE D (THREMR
turnover by geographical market, irrespective of the origin of Ei) B & EBEDAT
the goods:
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
The PRC, excluding Hong Kong PE NRERE 4 1
Hong Kong BE 5,328 5,863
Asia and Europe EELDSEA 7,433 5,469
12,765 11,333
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of segment T RZREEFREMEDTHDEEER
assets and additions of property, plant and equipment analysed HERREDE BWEREZHEIN:
by the geographical areas in which the assets are located:
Carrying amount Additions of

of consolidated
segment assets

property, plant
and equipment

REIHEEREME REYVE BERSZE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——F | ZE2-TF | ZB——f | _2-ZF
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FiET FAET FET
Hong Kong BE 2,584 3,121 = -

The PRC, excluding A -
Hong Kong =R 393,262 397,964 9 -
395,846 401,085 9 -
7 OTHER INCOME 7 Hittzs
The Group
rEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET
Bank interest income RITH B U A 1,331 1,377
Sundry income I A 129 241
1,460 1,618
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N E]f BRI

8 OPERATING LOSS 8 REEBRE
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
—E2——fF —E-FF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Operating loss has been arrived at after KEBEBEENR:
charging:
Directors’ remuneration (note a(i)) EE=We (MiFad)
- Fees - e 192 194
— Other emoluments —E{@@H% 449 549
— Retirement benefits scheme R ONE FIET BB 5R
contributions 27 36
668 779
Other staff costs Hith 8 TARA 1,791 1,864
Retirement benefits contributions Efih B TR R4E I 5K
for other staff 138 131
Total staff costs B T4 A 2,597 2,774
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BRI B &
— Current year —AFEE 400 400
— Overprovision in prior year — BT FEREREE - (80)
Depreciation and amortisation on PrE R
— Owned assets —-BEEE 5,747 5,476
— Leased asset —-HEEE 130 130
— Leasehold land and land use rights —MHE T i AR 242 231
Impairment loss of property, M BB R EREEE
plant and equipment 15,694 -
Operating lease rentals in respect of T REFNEEHERS
land and buildings 408 479
Bad debts written off 12 AR 1 8 164 145
Exchange loss, net JE R F R 10 15
Research and development costs Bt B Bk A 1,901 1,272
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8 OPERATING LOSS (Continued) 8 REEFH#)
Note (a): Emoluments of directors and highest paid employees Wit@)  BERBEEFEEMS
(i)  Directors’ emoluments (i) EEH2
Details of the remuneration of the directors for the year HE-_ZT——F=A=+—RHILFE
ended 31st March, 2011 were as follows: EEMeFBOT:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme
Directors’ in kind  contributions
Name of directors fees e 2R BRIREF Total
EEHA EEHS HiEF ST &It st
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FEx FEx
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Chu Chien Tung KEBRILAE - 123 9 132
Mr. Chu Chick Kei KEREE - 266 9 275
Mr. Chu Sen Hei KREXE - 60 9 69
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, IR E L
Anthony 96 - - 96
Independent non- BTN TEF
executive Directors
Mr. Hong Yong Hwan e 96 - - 96
Mr. Zhu Lei Bo BRI A - - = =
192 449 27 668

64 Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited

RAH AR R R ARA T o

=



8

OPERATING LOSS (Continued)

(Continued)

(i)

V5 M

8 REBE(#E)
Note (a): Emoluments of directors and highest paid employees Wit@) EBEREEHEEMS (&)
Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (i) EEBH2 (&)
Details of the remuneration of the directors for the year HE_Z-—ZF=-A=t+—HILEFE
ended 31st March, 2010 were as follows: EEMaFBOT:
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and benefits scheme
Directors’ in kind contributions
Name of directors fees e EBR RIKRER Total
EEHA EEHE Hth & 7 EHEIHERR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Chu Chien Tung KERREHE - 123 12 135
Mr. Chu Chick Kei SEREE - 318 12 330
Mr. Chu Sen Hei KEBEE - 108 12 120
Non-executive Director FEBITEE
Dr. Fung Shiu Lun, IR
Anthony 97 - - 97
Independent non- HITIMITEF
executive Directors
Mr. Hong Yong Hwan AR k& 97 - - 97
Mr. Zhu Lei Bo BREE - - - -
194 549 36 779

Each of Mr. Chu Chien Tung, Mr. Chu Chick Kei and Mr. Chu
Sen Hei has waived respectively the amount approximately
HK$1,827,000 (2010: HK$1,827,000), HK$1,424,000 (2010:
HK$1,372,000) and HK$590,000 (2010: HK$542,000) of
remuneration for the year ended 31st March, 2011.

REE-_Z——=ZA=Z+—H1t
FE ABRREALE -KERLEER
AERLECZEAENEM 2D 5
451,827,000 L (ZE —ZTF:
1,827,000/ 7T) + 1,424,000/ T
(ZZ—Z 4 :1,372,00087T) &
590,000/ 7T ( == —Z 4 : 542,000
HIT) °
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8 OPERATING LOSS (Continued)

Note (a): Emoluments of directors and highest paid employees
(Continued)

(ii)

66

Employees’ emoluments

The five highest paid individuals included one (2010:
one) director, details of whose emoluments are set out in
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2010: four)

AR SRR

8 REFR#)
Mit(a)  BEERBEHEEMS (47)

(ii)

ESHE

Tfuse#HFMALeE R (ZF—
TE—R)EE ZFEALZHEF
BER EX - EpE (Z 224

individuals are as follows: ME)ALZHESmT
2011 2010
—e——f —T-34
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and other benefits i ke 729 729

Retirement benefits scheme RIRTE 5 Bl 3K

contributions 35 34
764 763

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within
the following band was as follows:

MeETHBEENZBETASMT:

Number of employees

EEAH
2011 2010
—g——F e i
HK$ Nil to HK$1,000,000 07870 21,000,000/8 7T 4 4

Except for the above, there were no share options granted to
employees under the Company's share option scheme during
the year (2010: Nil).

No emoluments were paid or payable to the above highest
paid individuals as an inducement to join the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the financial years
ended 31st March, 2011 and 31st March, 2010.

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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9

10

iR e Rk M E

FINANCE COSTS 9 ®MEKRE
The Group
TEH
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$°000
FET TET
Finance charges A& F 17 25
TAXATION 10 #Hi\E
(@ No provision for PRC enterprise income tax and Hong Kong (a) HERAREERAFENR FFEHHEIRHIE

profits tax has been provided as the Group has sustained a tax

loss for both years.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC,
provision for PRC enterprise income tax is calculated based on
a statutory rate of 25% (2010: 25%) of the assessable profits

of the companies within the Group.

(b)

EiE R ERPECEMERREBEF
SHIEHEE-

REFEGRENRER TEEEMF
BREBERBENZ225% (ZF—F
F125%)  REBREEESFERE-

Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss at (b) FEXHEAFERAERREAEZE@ER
applicable tax rates: B 7 HHE -
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss before taxation b 75 AT E 1R (20,950) (6,898)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate IR AMFTERIFE R16.5%E 2 Bi1A
of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) (—ZE—Z4F 16, 5%) (3,457) (1,138)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT L 2 Big &
for tax purposes 2,777 190
Tax effect of income not assessable HARBMWA Z G E
for tax purposes (460) (409)
Tax effect of temporary difference REEAERENEZHB /o RETE
unrecognised for the year 14 8
Tax effect of tax losses unrecognised AREEXRERHBEEEB Z HEZE
for the year 1,126 1,349
Taxation charge BIES = -

No provision for deferred taxation has been made in both years

as the amount involved is insignificant.

MRS R BRI AER MARFELE
FEHERBETEHRBER-
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11 LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE EQUITY 1M1 KARAEEREAEBEGLEERERE
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss for the year attributable to the equity holders of the RAGIEFEABGFEFEANBEBEERAR
Company is dealt with in the consolidated financial statements of REMBHMERNG A BETAEER,276, OOO
the Company to the extent of a loss of HK$1,276,000 (2010: loss of B (ZE—ZF 181,649,000/ 7T) °

HK$1,649,000).

12 LOSS PER SHARE 12 BREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the following BREREETIZ T EETE:
data:
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FET
Loss e
Loss for the year for the purposes of R EREAEBEZ
basic loss per share AFEEEHE (20,950) (6,898)
Number of shares RO EE
Number of ordinary shares in issue A Miﬂi%$§§?§2
for the purpose of basic loss per share BEITERRK 1,105,600,000 1,105,600,000
No diluted loss per share has been presented for the years ended HARARARBE-TE——FR_ZT—FTF=
31st March, 2011 and 2010 as the Company did not have any A=+—BItFEWEFMNAEEGEH 2 K
dilutive potential shares outstanding in both years. TR WEAZERAFER LFE 2 GREE
&g -
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements #r& B SRR M3

13 W% BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures
and Plant
Leasehold equipment and Motor
buildings Bk machinery vehicles Total
BT RERZHE BERKEE AE @it
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
FET FAET FRET FET FET
The Group A&E
Cost AR
At 1st April, 2009 RZZTAEMA—H 17,649 1,620 56,476 1,114 76,859
Exchange realignment EH B 10 1 26 - 37
Disposals HE - (806) - - (806)
At 31st March, 2010 R-ZET-ZF=A=+—H 17,659 815 56,502 1,114 76,090
Exchange realignment ERAR 791 26 2,028 21 2,866
Additions NE - - 9 - 9
Disposals HE - ) - - )
At 31st March, 2011 R-ZE-—-%=A=+-AH 18,450 839 58,539 1,135 78,963
Depreciation and impairment  #7& i &
At 1t April, 2009 R-ZENFMA—R 4,943 1,568 25,442 613 32,566
Exchange realignment ELRE 3 1 13 - 17
Charge for the year FAZML 870 24 4,582 130 5,606
Written back on disposals 6 B (o) - (806) - - (806)
At 31st March, 2010 W_ZE-25=A=+-H 5,816 787 30,037 743 37,383
Exchange realignment ELE 261 25 1,065 20 1,371
Charge for the year FAZH 909 7 4,831 130 5,877
Impairment loss recognised EEEARANAESE
in profit or loss - - 15,694 - 15,694
Written back on disposals HE R e - (2) - - )
At 31st March, 2011 R-E--f£=H=+-H 6,986 817 51,627 893 60,323
Carrying value RE
At 31st March, 2011 R-Z--%=A=+-AH 11,464 22 6,912 242 18,640
At 31st March, 2010 n= ZF=A=+—H 11,843 28 26,465 371 38,707
Carrying value of leased asset  FEEAEFEE
At 31st March, 2011 R-B--f=ZA=t-H - - - 216 216
At 31st March, 2010 RZF— —A=+-H - - - 345 345

The Group’s buildings are situated in the PRC and are held under
land use rights for 50 years expiring in 2053. The buildings have
been pledged to a bank to secure general banking facilities to the

Group.

At the balance sheet date, the directors have reviewed the
recoverable amounts of the Group’s plant and machinery with
the opinion obtained from an independent professional valuer,
Roma Appraisals Limited that the carrying amounts of certain plant
and machinery exceeded their recoverable amounts. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of approximately HK$15,694,000 has been
recognised in respect of the Group's plant and machinery.

AEBURTBERAZET  DHRERHIS0F 2
THFERERE R_TRA=-FER - WEFE
ERASBMERITREWEM-

REER BEEYAEEZHE RS 2 AT Ik
Ol & AETHR URB T EEGEMES B
TEERARBEER  HEMABADBOEE R
e 7 EmEBHEATKE S5 - E I ERR
55 M i 2SR E B B 4 515,694,000 7T ©
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14 LEASEHOLD LAND AND LAND USE RIGHTS

15

70

P e

14 HELHRTHERE

The Group
rEHE
2011 2010
—E——fF —ZT-ZF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cost B 7R
At beginning of the year FH 11,571 11,564
Exchange realignment EH SR 518 7
At end of the year Fix 12,089 11,571
Accumulated amortisation 2T H
At beginning of the year F4 1,427 1,195
Exchange realignment EH SR 43 1
Amortisation for the year I S 242 231
At end of the year F R 1,712 1,427
Net book value REFEE
At end of the year FR 10,377 10,144

The leasehold land and land use rights are situated in the PRC and
are held for 50 years expiring between 2053 and 2056.

One of the leasehold land and land use right at net book value of
HK$7,906,000 (2010: HK$7,727,000) has been pledged to a bank to
secure general banking facilities to the Group.

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

BAUNFEREAZHEEL R L ERES
HREBR -_ER =R SR FHEER A

50%F o

Hoh — i8R EF(E 47,906,000 (ZE—F
17,727,000 00) 2 HHE + 4 & 1 b 5 AR A

EERAEEMERTRENER

15 RHEQTER

2011 2010

—F——F —T-TF

HK$000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Unlisted shares, at cost JE LMD AN E 3,128 3,128
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE W B B R R FNIE 101,285 102,888
104,413 106,016

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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15

INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The amounts due from subsidiaries which are neither past due nor
impaired are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of
repayments. In the opinion of the directors, the amounts due will
not be settled within 12 months from the balance sheet date and are
therefore reclassified as non-current.

Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 31st March, 2011 are set
out as follows:

Issued and

N E]f BER&R M

15 B’\‘Bﬁ%’&ﬁ%é (%)

JRE 2 B JB8 2 B SRR A R B B RORORUME - T R R
- %E_EHH$EZEﬁMM EEZR/Z
BWFIATGEARE AR+ _EAZNEE ¥
WEFDBRIERD -

RRRZHBRBR
ZEIBMT

\Z_E——%=A=+—H

Percentage of

fully paid nominal value of
Place of share capital/ issued share capital/
incorporation/ Place of registered registered capital held
Name of company establishment operation capital by the Company Principal activities
BRTR
TMREL/ BRRE,/ ARAMBEROTRE/
DREH B3 it 3 BEmE ZMBRE AMRFEEED TERH
Directly Indirectly
B Gk
Bright Growth Resources Limited* British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERAEE B 17T REZR
Bright World Resources Limited* British Virgin Islands Hong Kong uss4 100 - Investment holding
RERAEE B 4ETT REZR
Direct Intelligent Limited* British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 100 - Dormant
RERAEE B 17T BEEX
Ultra Modern Technology Limited*  British Virgin Islands Hong Kong Uss2 100 - Investment holding
RERAEE B 2R REZR
Sunpower Technology Limited? British Virgin Islands Hong Kong US$1 100 - Investment holding
HERRARAA" RERAES B 17T REZKR
Tungda Electrical & Lighting Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$4 - 100 Trading of light
Limited (“Tungda Electrical”)* A 0 4B T source products

RAEERBERAA
(TRAEX])*

EERRED

Annual Report 2010/11 71

2010/11 £



Notes to the consolidated financial statements 434 BA 7 Ek 3= M =3

15 INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 15 RHBARES (4)
Issued and Percentage of
fully paid nominal value of
Place of share capital/ issued share capital/
incorporation/ Place of registered registered capital held
Name of company establishment operation capital by the Company Principal activities
BRTR
SMREL/ BRERE/ FRAARBERTRES
NEER st BEmE R A AMRAEERD L TERH
Directly Indirectly
B &
Light Power (Shenzhen) PRC PRC HK$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Company Limited* H I 10,000,000/ T trading of light
2 WA ORI BR R A source products
HEREEARER
Tungda Lighting (Fujian) PRC PRC RMB27,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and
Company Limited H I AEE trading of light
(“Tungda Fujian”)* 27,000,0007T source products
RARH (E2)ARLA HEREEARER
([RAEE]) *
Putian Riwei Lighting Electrical PRC PRC US$312,546 - 100 Dormant
Equipment Company Limited* FE I 312,546% 1T Tmex

BETHBRAERERAR
Note:

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at 31st March,
2011 or at any time during the year.

# Private companies with limited liability.

* Wholly foreign-investment enterprise with limited liability.

72 Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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17

B R R M

/\\/T\
INVENTORIES 16 FE
The Group
rEHE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Raw materials, at cost R ¥ KA E 1,973 2,048
Finished goods, at cost BIRR & - FEAKANE 930 1,693
2,903 3,741
The amount of inventories recognised as an expense and included X HMER Wit Affa 2B ERTHFEEE
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income is %E?,%11,729,000/%7E(:T T 112,177,000
HK$11,729,000 (2010: HK$12,177,000). JC) °
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17 BRESZREREMEVERR
The Group
rEH
2011 2010
e —z-zF
HK$000 HK$°'000
FET FET
Trade receivables FEWE 5 78 643 697
Other receivables, deposits and E b FEUER R - 1R & RIE IR
prepayments 2,671 2,763
3,314 3,460
The Group generally allows an average credit period of 30 days REE-RGETEESFEP T R0CRNEER
to its trade customers and keeps monitoring its outstanding trade H-YWekdER BKHIE - EBE NS E
receivables. Overdue balances are regularly reviewed by management 2698 B R T 2 IR UK IE -

of the Group.
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17 ERESREREMEWERR (&)
An ageing analysis of the Group's trade receivables is as follows: REBEWE HHEZRRDTHT
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E2——F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
Three months or less Eﬂilﬁ Al 574 611
More than three months —EAELRKEAR
but less than six months 60 49
More than six months ZRANEABRLHR—F
but less than one year 8 34
More than one year ZR—F 1 3
643 697

As at 31st March, 2011,

trade receivables of HK$309,000 (2010:

HK$364,000) were past due but not impaired. These related to a
number of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. Based on past experience, management believes
that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in their credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as

N_E——F=A=+—H BEABHETERE
2 FEUE 5 378 A309,0008 L (Z T — T4
364,000/ JT.) olttmﬁw%lﬁiﬁﬁaﬁzz%
EEURFAR BERTKS EREMRED

BRZSEBRIELRERE utﬁmﬁAﬁEE
WEERNEE MxSERDFER AT BEK
Bl REEWERESEHRIFETMERR B
Lt e R IEBR e AT LR T

follows:
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E—TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHETT FET
Three months or less past due BEILR=1EA 268 308
One year or less but over BH=EAE—F
three months past due 40 53
Over one year past due BmHZ R —F 1 3
309 364

74 Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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19

AR SRR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 18 HekFALEE
The Group The Company
rEH b NN
2011 2010 2011 2010
=g——#% | —“T-3F | —g-—& | —2-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FET FEr
Bank balances and cash RITEBRES 360,612 345,033 46 47

Bank balances carried interest at market rates of 0.36% to 0.40%
(2010: 0.36%) per annum.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

BITEBRERZ A B AT EF0.36%%E0.40% (—
T—FF 1036% ) MBI RFE -

19 ENESREREMEMSERER

The Group
rEH
2011 2010
= —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trade payables JETE 53R 664 957
Other payables and accrued charges HiENERRETER 16,430 16,605
Amounts due to directors & E EHRIE 661 1,040
17,755 18,602
The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days. BECZEEH-—KRAB/IOK-
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables is as follows: AEBENESHBEZEEREDTOT :
The Group
FEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Three months or less =EAR 656 790
More than three months ZR=EAELRNER
but less than six months 8 164
More than six months ZRANEAEBLR—F
but less than one year - -
More than one year ZN—F =
664 957
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20 OBLIGATION UNDER A FINANCE LEASE 20
At 31st March, 2011, the Group had an obligation under a finance
lease repayable, i.e. minimum lease payments, as follows:

76

BMEHEERERE

AR TSR

RIEBE——FZAZ+—H AEEBREMEA
EzBEALEERERENT:

The Group
rEHE
2011 2010
—E——fF —ZT-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Amounts payable FEAS 5RIA
Within one year —FR 142 142
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF PREEEME 95 238
Total minimum lease payments XK ® A 237 380
Future finance lease charges RRBEHRERZ (11) (28)
Present value of total minimum REHSBERE
lease payments 226 352
The present value of finance lease NNl k= R
obligation is due as follows: BEMEAE CRE:
Within one year —FR 133 126
In the second to fifth year inclusive FEFRF BEREEMF 93 226
226 352
Falling due within one year included FARBEER —FRE
in current liabilities (133) (126)
93 226

The Group leases a motor vehicle under finance lease arrangement
for an initial period of 5 years. The leased motor vehicle secures the

above lease obligation.

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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22

ZT SYBLETELNER

SHARE CAPITAL 21 B
Number of Nominal
Class shares value Amount
il R4 B HE &8
HK$ HK$'000
BT FET
Authorised:
JEE
At 1st April, 2009, 31st March, 2010 and Ordinary 5,000,000,000 0.01 50,000
31st March, 2011
ZEERFOA—RA ZE2—ZEF=A=+—H ETBR
kZZT——F=H=+—H
Issued and fully paid:
EETREE -
At 1st April, 2009, 31st March, 2010 and Ordinary 1,105,600,000 0.01 11,056
31st March, 2011
RZZEEANFHA—A —E—ZEF=A=+—H Rl

R—ZF——F=ZH=1+—H

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on
12th July, 2002 for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards
to eligible persons, including the directors of the Group, full time
and part time employees of the Group and the consultants or
advisers of the Group. Pursuant to the Scheme, the board of the
directors may grant share options to the eligible persons to subscribe
for shares in the Company. Options granted must be taken up within
a period of 28 days from the date of options granted and upon
payment of HK$1 as the consideration for the options granted.
Unless otherwise terminated or altered, the Scheme will remain in
force for a period of ten years.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Scheme together with shares previously issued
pursuant to options exercised under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to time
and the maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted to any one eligible person in any 12-month period shall
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company from time
to time.

22 E%BHE**;J

ARBR BT _FLA+= EI%ZWE%HHEH
2 ([5t38)) FERAEBAL BEAR
%%*$%@%H§&%H§H§E&$%@Z%§E@Eﬁ
iR M SRR ER R EE - RIZFTE EFE
ARAEMATRTARBARRRND 2B
o BRELARROBRERRES —+N\R
MR ERERAERBRERASNIET
Z B - BRIERITR L SHAE L AERT SN 5T EIH R
TERNER-

RIBFF BT RER D 2 BT S R D EE £
RERLAREETEBREMETZR
7 NMEBRBADB TR EITRA10% K
EA+—EAMEAREREA-—RAEBRAL
BRHZBRAEMS Rz BmEB LR BITSE
BARBTREETRAE1% -
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22

78

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price shall be determined by the board of directors
and notified to the eligible persons and shall be at least the highest
of (i) the closing price of the shares on the GEM as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the offer date, which
must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares on
the GEM as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet for
the 5 trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of a share.

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options
held by employees (including directors) and the movements in such
holdings during the year ended 31st March, 2011:

22

re Rk A

BT E (&)

REBEHEZGET i%ﬂﬁ‘A§$%Ai'H
TEERAT=EP & G2 P BRERFT
HBEHRIEZ2ERES E (E%EILIZ\%EZ%?&% H)
TERIFEM 2 T B ¢ (i)l AT B 3R & AT AR (5
EEZREEREZAITAMELS BEAIZER
ZFHWTHE KGR EE -

TREBEHE T ——F=ZA=1+—HILFE
NEE (BREF)MBAXRBRELFER
ZEBREZE:

Outstanding

at
31.03.2010
and 31.03.2011
R=B-FF
=ZA=+—8H
Exercise price R=—F——F
Date of grant per share Exercisable period =A=+-—H
BHBH BRITEE TEEE i R AT HE
HK$
BT
Employees 03.10.2003 0.345 22.10.2003 - 21.10.2013 33,140,672
=]
Directors
=
Mr. Chu Chien Tung 21.11.2003 0.452 29.11.2003 - 28.11.2013 1,054,944
KER
Mr. Chu Chick Kei 21.11.2003 0.452 29.11.2003 - 28.11.2013 1,054,944
KER
Mr. Chu Sen Hei 21.11.2003 0.452 29.11.2003 - 28.11.2013 10,549,440
=L
45,800,000

No share options were exercised, granted or cancelled during the
years ended 31st March, 2011 and 2010.

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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23 RESERVES 23 f#fE

The Group

(@) Pursuant to the relevant accounting rules and regulations
applicable to foreign investment enterprises established in
the PRC, the Group's PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer
not less than 10% of its profit after taxation to the general
reserve fund until the balance of such fund has reached
50% of their respective registered capital. The balances of
the general reserve fund cannot be reduced except where
approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to set off
accumulated losses or increase capital.

(b)  The special reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares of the acquired subsidiaries and
the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the
acquisition under the group reorganisation of the Group took
place in July, 2002.

The Company

REH

(@) REBEERRFBERIZINERECEZE
et R LR REE S BN E A A
ARERPRI0% 2 REENERE —K
FREED HEEZESEFEEZEMEAR
Z50% 43 1k - BRIEME A B B 4L
TR Rt B IR B IR - & BB R
b-REFEES BT

(b) 5 5l e 48 P U B /B8 1 B) 2 B ) [ £
BEAEENR _ZE_FLAETZEER
BERREMBETARARDEERZE
RR o

KAF

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total

R 435 B BHEBR st

HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000

TET TET TET

At 1st April, 2009 RZZEZENFHA—H 101,669 (6,756) 94,913
Loss for the year FREIE - (1,649) (1,649)
At 31st March, 2010 RZE—ZEF=A=+—H 101,669 (8,405) 93,264
Loss for the year FAEE - (1,276) (1,276)
At 31st March, 2011 R-—ZE——F=A=+—H 101,669 (9,681) 91,988

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
net amount of share premium and accumulated losses. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium of
the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and/
or Articles of Association and provided that immediately following
the date on which dividend is distributed, the Company is able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. In
accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, dividends
can be distributed out of the share premium and retained profits
of the Company. As at 31st March, 2011, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution amounted to approximately HK$91,988,000
(2010: HK$93,264,000).

KAz HDREEERDZERZFTEE
ZEE-RERESESAENE ARRAZERHDE
BRI AREEL DIRIORMTRE - A AR
R ERE R M &, S AR M A 2 IE SR
IR ARREESIRIREERAZE KNRRIMA
BERNEBERBRER I NEEREMNZEE - RIE
RARZABERMEA  KREAIRARRRGE
ERREBEFPENS R _T——F=ZA=+—
B AAal 2 Al ok # %) /&291,988,0008 7T
—Z—F 93,264,000/ 7T ) °

Annual Report 2010/11 79
2010/11 £




Notes to the consolidated financial statements 434 BA 75k 2= fi =3

24

25

80

LEASE COMMITMENTS 24 THEXEE
As at the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments for future REFER  RNEEREAR B REFHT A #
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in HECEHERATHESIHEN T B KER
respect of land and buildings which fall due as follows: SERENT
The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FET
Within one year —FR 224 384
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_EERF PREEEME - 224
224 608
The operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHEHSEAEERETHAEWERE
Group for certain of its office premises and warehouses. Leases are BREMNZES HER-—RIZMFEAN -
generally negotiated for terms of two years.
RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 25 BEALIXRZ RS

Details of the Group's significant transactions with the following
related parties during the year, together with balances with them as
at 31st March, 2011, are as follows:

AEBMEYN THEALRERETZEARS
BAR-F——F=A=+—-R2BHBIHE
m -

The Group
rEE
2011 2010
—Z2——fF —ET-ZF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET
Ultimate holding company: BEER AR
Rental expenses HeMX 108 108
Directors: o=
Balances due from the Group B A £ E 661 1,040

Messrs. Chu Chien Tung, Chu Chick Kei and Chu Siu Chun (father
of Messrs. Chu Chien Tung and Chu Chick Kei) jointly hold the
entire issued share capital of Tungda Industrial Limited, the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

The directors of the Group are of the opinion that the above
transactions were entered into at terms agreed by both parties. The
balances are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment
term.

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
RAFMRRAZERER DA

RERELE KEREERRAELSE (BRRE
RAEERKEREEZRXH) KRFHA AR B K
BRERARRATE (KRB BARARZHDH
TR

AEB2EEZR/A LR BIDIRETTFTE Z 5K
BT BERBER R2RNREREENBRR-
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RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

The key management personnel of the Group are the directors
of the Company. The remuneration of the key management
personnel is determined by the Board of Directors having regard to
the performance of individuals and market trends. Details of the
remuneration paid to them are set out in note 8 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group contributes to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the "MPF” Scheme) for all qualifying employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. Under the
rules of the MPF Scheme, contributions to the scheme by the Group
and the employees are calculated as a percentage of employee’s
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$20,000. The retirement benefit scheme costs charged to profit
or loss represent contributions payable by the Group to the fund.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund.

In pursuant to the PRC Government regulations, the Group is
required to contribute to a Central Pension Scheme in respect of the
Group's employees in the PRC and there is no forfeited contribution
under the Central Pension Scheme.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
pension benefits beyond the contributions described above.

P e

BEALRZRER ()

TEEBABHE
AEETBEBRABRARAEZ TEEEA
BrzMehaFMEEegERBEMNALZR
ARMGBEERETE - N TREALZHIFS
HRA A MR ES

EBRBEREE

AEBAEESEBIEH AIAEER TRERAZA
EREREERMHMATESTE ([BESE
B EFK-RBFARTESFHEZRA AEERE
BREZER I IZEEBEBIBAZAE D LA
H M ABBERAN RS LR A20,0008 7T
B AR B R KR B AT IR A fe R E E (A
ESINMHER -SESHEEERAEENE
ENHFE ABUBTEESETE-

RIBPEBMDESR  AEEARAEEREESR
AP SRR ORET &I R - TAR IR o SRR KA 8130 B
EOR U K -

B D RoN AEEYEEMBARAKEEH
HREE-
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

are B R R MY

27 TRERERE

Financial instruments (a) 2®TIHA
The Group has classified its financial assets and liabilities in the REBBEMBEERABGES RUTE
following categories: Al :
The Group The Company
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
—F-——f T |ZF——F |ZTTF
Notes HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$°000
bt i FET FHET FET FET
Amounts due from JiE U Y BB A R FUA
subsidiaries 15 - - 101,285 102,888
Trade receivables FEWE Z5IA 17 643 697 =
Other receivables, HiERER ke
deposits and RIER IR
prepayments 2,373 1,941 - -
Cash and cash RekBE2EE
equivalents 18 360,612 345,033 46 47
Total loans and B R EW LA
receivables 363,628 347,671 101,331 102,935
The Group The Company
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010
=EB——F |ZT-ZTF |ZB——F | ZT-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
M it FET FET FET FET
Trade payables ERTE S 5IE 19 664 957 - -
Other payables and H A FE BRI
accrued charges EEER 19 16,430 16,605 1,053 1,280
Amounts due to JERESHIA
directors 19 661 1,040 600 813
Obligation under a AEMHEAE
finance lease 20 226 352 - -
Total financial liabilities 37 85k A5t E
at amortised cost LemaE 17,981 18,954 1,653 2,093

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
RAFMRRAZERER DA
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course
of its business and financial instruments. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

(b)

(i) Market risk

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk arising
from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to Renminbi (“RMB"). Currency risk arises
from future commercial transactions, recognised
assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations. In addition, the conversion
of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the
rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. This currency
exposure is managed primarily through sourcing
raw material denominated in the same currency.

There are no significant monetary balances held
by the Group companies as at 31st March, 2011
that are denominated in a non-functional currency.
Currency risk arises on account of monetary assets
and liabilities being denominated in a currency
that is not the functional currency, however this is
not material to the Group as a whole. Differences
resulting from the translation of financial
statements into the Group’s presentation currency
are not taken into consideration.

Interest rate risk
The Group's interest rate risk arises from cash at
banks. Bank savings interest received at variable
interest rates that expose the Group to cash flow
interest-rate risk.

The Group's finance lease obligation was
transacted and arranged at fixed rates. However, as
the amount that exposes the fair value interest-rate
risk is not significant, in consequence, no material
exposure on fair value interest-rate risk is expected.
Even that, the Group closely monitors the fair value
fluctuation of the finance lease obligation in case
of significant increase in interest rate is foreseen.

27

Are MR
TRERER (&£
(b) £REREZE
AEBE-REBEEREMT AR IR
ZRPBER : mERR (BREINERR
MERBRERERR) EERBRERS

Bl EEBHZERBETEER
ERNERAIURENERZ T AERA
2

(i) m%ﬁﬁ

SIE [ Bz
AEBRATRAEEELEBTT
AREINERR HREER
AR INERBIRE B 1&#
NZAE¥RS BEHEAREEHR
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)

84

(b) =@EKRREZ (&)
(i)  Market risk (Continued) (i) TEEkE (&)
Interest rate risk (Continued) - FEER (E)
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-FF
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
b iF FHET FET
Floating-rate financial assets F B A X & FE E
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBESE 18 360,612 345,033
Fixed-rate financial liabilites BEEFMEREEE
Finance lease obligation BB ERE 20 (226) (352)
Net interest-bearing assets ATREEER 360,386 344,681
Sensitivity analysis BREE D
At 31st March, 2011, if interest rates on floating- RZE——F=A=+—H"
rate financial assets had been 1% higher/ 1%5?@?'J,~\$HE§EE’J7F‘J$
lower with all other variables held constant, # Z— if B
would decrease/increase the Group’s loss before B AEME §5(2’E?%T NS

27 ERERE

re Rk A

B#)

taxation by approximately HK$3,604,000 (2010:
HK$3,447,000). No sensitivity analysis for the
Group’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk
arising from financial liabilities is prepared since
the management’s assessment of reasonably
changes in value of amount is insignificant.

The above sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the balance sheet date and had been
applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for
financial instruments in existence at that date. The
changes in interest rate represents management's
assessment of a reasonably possible change in
interest rates in that date over the period until the
next annual balance sheet date.

The analysis was performed on the same basis for
2010.
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 27 SRERER (&)
(b) Financial risk factors (Continued) (b) 2REMREE (&)
(i)  Market risk (Continued) () wEEE(E)
- Price risk - (EEER
The Group is not exposed to any equity securities 7N E5 [ 3 f8 R (R (AT AR AN
risk or commodity price risk. [2L B2 ok g A B AR LB o
The Company is exposed to other price risk in ARAFEERMBARZIRE
respect of its investments in subsidiaries. The ﬁK%*Ei\{@f“Wﬂ % o /7 B
sensitivity analysis to other price risk in relation DA R ERIHNFZ
to the investments in subsidiaries cannot be %ﬁl&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ'ﬂ@%'zﬁ/&ﬁjﬂiﬁ%
reliably determined due to numerous uncertainties ATV E S A b ) SR E
regarding the future development of these DT
subsidiaries.
(ii) Credit risk (i) ERE
The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly REBAAENEERBREEZERD
by the individual characteristics of each customer. BEEMERFHRTE-
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit AEBWEaEER 2 EERR -&
risk. The carrying amount of the trade and other EEBERANERESIEREM
receivables included in the balance sheet represents the FERERRBMAEESMEEN K
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation SEERR RNEEERITARSG 2K
to its financial assets. The Group has policy in place to % LME{%F'HTE%TAMF/\EEﬁZE
ensure that sales of products are made to customers with FPigEEM  BASHE) Hﬂ%’]@
an appropriate credit history and the Group performs PHEATEERE - ﬁ’ilﬁ/\uﬁl@
periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The Group's K E A EUAR ZLEi‘“%ﬁuEﬁ‘E
historical experience in collection of trade and other i MEREERRAELUELEES
receivables falls within the recorded allowances and the HamzAE AR EZ ERE 5
directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for FRIE N Eo i FE W BR SRAE L B B 2 B
uncollectible trade and other receivables has been made HoBRAREEYEKRE S RIERE
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. HMEKERNEERREHE L2
Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the Group's HE— W A RN E BB WK
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and other MiEE17 ©
receivables are set out in note 17.
The credit risk on liquid funds is considered negligible, HRARBES DEFERREER I
since the counterparties are reputable banks with good BEESINEEEFRARTT AL
quality external credit ratings. BiEERRER-
(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) FEEL/EE
Individual operating entities within the Group are AEBERENEMHEBTAERS
responsible for their own cash management, including B -BEEARNBPERRBNEH
the short term investment of cash surpluses and the ?”é“fﬂ@g’g%?ﬁ(l%%%ﬁ,ﬁﬁzfﬁﬁ
raising of loans to cover expected cash demands, subject R EEBEBEESAXENSRTE A
to approval by the parent company’s board when the RERRESERUESIIEE - K&
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels of B 2 B Ty B B R IR A N TR HA R
authority. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor PESBR UBRREEFEHRS
current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure FREAFTERBRRERNASE
that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its EFEE-

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

Annual Report 2010/11 85
2010/11 £
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27 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)
(b) Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The following tables detail the remaining contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

27 SRERER (&)

(b)

TREAREE (&)
(i) mBEZEE (&)

ARe BRI

TRAVNAEBESRABNEEA
E R A AR - e TYIRIR A #OREBR
BRSRE (BRRAENNXHE
BRI SR SN F B A X - AR
BREERBITOMNE)  ARAEE
ARENERNRNZREAH

Total
contractual Less than
Total undiscounted 1 year or Between Between
carrying cash flow  on demand 1to2 2to5
amount SHARER DPR-FR years years
REE RERELE NERKEE -ZMEFR ZERER
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
2011 —B——fF
Trade payables [EE S8 664 664 664 - -
Other payables and HibERBRR K
accrued charges fEs & A 16,430 16,430 16,430 - -
Amount due to a R —fIEE 708
director 661 661 661 - -
Obligation under a MEMEAE
finance lease 226 238 143 95 -
17,981 17,993 17,898 95 -
Total
contractual Less than
Total  undiscounted 1 year or Between Between
carrying cash flow on demand 1102 2t05
amount  AHIAREIE PR —Fk years years
REHE Ren2fs RERREER —ZmEA ZERER
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3$°000
FET T8 T8 FET FET
2010 —E-ZF
Trade payables [EE 558 957 957 957 - -
Other payables and Hb R ERR K
accrued charges fEs & A 16,605 16,605 16,605 - -
Amounts due to ENESHIE
directors 1,040 1,040 1,040 - -
Obligation under a BEAME AR
finance lease 352 380 142 142 96
18,954 18,982 18,744 142 96
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27

28

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Fair values
The following presents the carrying value of the financial
instruments measured at fair value at the balance sheet date
across the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value
of each financial instruments categorised in its entirety based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair value
measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

- Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
financial instruments;

- Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices in
active market for similar financial instruments, or using
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are
directly or indirectly based on observable data; and

- Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is not
based observable market data.

However, no analysis is disclosed since the carrying amounts
of the Group’s and Company’s financial instruments carried
at cost or amortised cost are not materially different from
their fair values as at 31st March, 2011 and 2010. Estimated
discounted cash flows at the current market interest rate are
used to determine the fair value for these financial instruments
(i.e. level 3 — lowest level).

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively reviews and manages its capital structure in the
light of changes in economic conditions so as to maintain a sound
capital position. Total capital is defined as shareholders’ equity in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to either
internally or externally imposed capital requirements.
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88

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT
YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST MARCH,
2011

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended
31st March, 2011 and which have not been early adopted in these
consolidated financial statements.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what
the impact of these amendments, new standards and new
interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial application.
So far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group's results of operations and
financial position.

In addition, the following developments may result in new or
amended disclosures in the consolidated financial statements:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Revised HKAS 24, Related Party Disclosures 1st January, 2011

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments 1st January, 2013

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 1st July, 2010 or

1st January, 2011

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income Taxes 1st January, 2012

Tungda Innovative Lighting Holdings Limited
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